

International Training for Tutors of Community Service Learning ENHANCE

26th to 28th September 2023

Faculty of Education and Social Work

University of Valladolid

Module 4: Tool for community engagement

María Luisa Rodicio García María Paula Ríos de Deus University of A Coruña





















Contenido

1.	Introduction	3
2.	Project preparation and needs assessment	5
	2.1 Fotovoice Technique	5
	2.2. Participatory mapping or social cartography	7
	2.3. Community assembly	8
	2.4. Needs Assessment Surveys	8
	2.5. Narrative interview	9
	2.6. SWOT Matrix	. 10
3.	Project development	. 12
	3.1. Reflexive diary	. 12
	3.2. Timeline	. 12
	3.3. Collaborative cartography and community mapping	. 14
	3.4. Ecomap	. 15
	3.6. The mobilization of knowledge	. 15
4.	Final evaluation	. 16
	4.1. Result report	. 16
	4.2. Participatory evaluation matrix	. 16
4.	Valid tools in any pase of the process	. 18
	5.1. Balanced scorecard	. 18
	5.2. Focus group	. 19
	5.3. Field diary	. 20
	5.4. Observation scales	.21
	5.5. Rubrics	.21
5.	Example of SL where some of the tools presented are used	. 22
6.	Bibliographic references	. 27



















1. Introduction

Throughout this module, different tools are presented that can be used in Service-Learning (Service-Learning) experiences or projects to involve people in the community in which they are developed. This will achieve a true learning community in which decisions are made jointly.

The SL is an educational methodology that allows learning by doing a service to the community; this way of learning makes it easier for participants to self-direct and self-develop, learning to survive or live on their own; that is, to achieve sustainable development over time (ICMM, 2023). Furthermore, as Aramburuzabala (2013) points out, "(...) to fully develop the potential of this powerful tool, planning must include structured reflection and debate about the concept of social justice and the implications of service in change." social" (p. 7).

For a SL experience to be successful, it must be associated with a process of introspection and deep reflection about the needs that are intended to be covered in the reference community, how to cover them and what will be the acquisition of skills and values that will contribute to curricular training. as professionals (Eyler and Giles, 1999; Puig et al., 2011).

It is appropriate, when talking about tools for community participation in SL projects, to take into account the different stages of their development: preparation, development and evaluation. These stages are what will determine the most appropriate type of tool in each case, without losing sight of the fact that it is an action process in which different community agents come together and that involve multidirectional and cyclical relationships.

If these three phases are addressed, we will have the necessary framework to talk about appropriate tools in successful practices. During the preparation, the process is planned and the needs assessment is carried out, subsequently the experience is developed and executed, and in the evaluation stage the analysis of the results achieved is carried out.

Below are some of the most used tools in each of the phases, although the most innovative ones are selected (Table 1) to give a more up-to-date view of this training.



















Tabla 1:Herramientas que se pueden utilizar en experiencias o proyectos de ApS

PHASES	TOOLS		
	Photovoice technique		
PREPARATION	Participatory mapping or social cartography Community assembly		
THEFANATION	Needs Assessment Surveys		
	Narrative interview		
	SWOT Matrices		
	Reflective journal		
PROJECT DEVELOPMENT	Timeline		
	Ecomap		
	Collaborative cartography and community mapping		
	The mobilization of knowledge		
FINAL EVALUATION	Results report		
	Participatory evaluation matrix		
	Balanced Scorecard		
VALID IN ANY PHASE	Focus groups		
7,12,5 117,117,132	Field diary		
	Observation scales		
	Rubrics		





















2. Project preparation and needs assessment

During this stage, multiple tools can be used for community participation, such as: photovoice, open house, participatory mapping or social cartography, community assembly, needs assessment surveys, self-assessment report, etc.

As anticipated in table 1, reference will be made to the following:

2.1 Fotovoice Technique

Participatory and community research tool that tries to promote change through the relationships established between the members of the community through images. As pointed out by Sanz et al. (2018, p. 42), "(...) is a participatory tool capable of capturing a community reality through photography and direct community action."

It consists of capturing real scenarios through photographs that reveal the situations and as they are experienced by the people involved in the process.

In the case of SL, it allows us to have a first analysis of reality, which represents very valuable knowledge to know where we are starting from and where we can go to improve the society or group in which we intervene. Through panels it becomes visible to everyone and, therefore, there is the same information that can be compared at the end as a pre and post-test of the situation.

The information obtained allows us to know the strengths and opportunities of a community and promotes community participation and social change, through images and words that give rise to individual and group reflection, as well as the empowerment of the participating people.

Advantages:

- Allows you to know the point of view of each participant.
- Prevents information from being biased.
- It allows us to know reality as it is.



















- Gives voice to vulnerable communities.
- Enhances teamwork.
- Facilitates problem solving.

Disadvantages:

- Requires prior training in the use of cameras.
- Gives rise to many levels of interpretation.
- It can fall into complaints and political topics.
- It may not represent reality depending on the images chosen.
- It may not reach managers or rulers and may not produce social change.

For its implementation it is necessary to follow a series of progressive phases:

- Constitution of the work team specifying the target population to which the intervention is directed.
- 2. Training consisting of the use of photographic cameras (use of zoom, flash, camera protection, ethical aspects such as the consent of the people who appear in the photographs and that there is no manipulation of the images or associated narratives that are not They must make value judgments.
- 3. Choice of the topic that should arouse interest in the participants and that is necessary for the community.
- 4. Definition of the participants, collecting their informed consent to confirm voluntariness, confidentiality, right to abandon, avoidance of harm and anonymity.
- 5. Taking the photographs based on what was learned in the training and trying to capture the reality that is intended to be shown as best as possible.



















- 6. Discussion in which the work team will select the best photographs and each author must accompany it with a short narrative (100-150 words) that represents their community in their own perception of it.
- 7. Collection and analysis of results of both photographs and narratives.
- 8. Exhibition and dissemination of results that will end the experience.

It is usually used with marginal groups and is a way of making them visible to the eyes of others; You could say it is a silent "empowerment." It helps them on their path towards self-esteem and individual and collective recognition and, in addition, to raise awareness among the general population (Sanz Vega et al., 2018; Montoya, Herrera and Ochoa, 2019; Rania et al., 2022; Suárez, 2023; among others).

2.2. Participatory mapping or social cartography

It is a very useful tool at the beginning of a SL process because it allows us to reflect the perceptions that people who are part of a group or community have about their spaces, ways of life, culture, etc. This information is very useful to transform contexts and people and, therefore, to know where to start.

Álvarez, McCall & León (2022, p. 10) point out that it is a tool that can "generate the spaces for meeting, dialogue and discussion necessary to build new knowledge, perspectives and forms of management, derived from the dialogue of knowledge between the academy and the communities."

It is located in this first phase, but it could also be during the completion of the project; but it is interesting to identify needs, share experiences, address difficulties, propose solutions and establish present and future collaboration networks (Cruz-López, Digón-Regueiro and López-García, 2022).



















2.3. Community assembly

The community deployment of any participation process is based on the ability to work together and on the existence of a trained promoter group that encourages participation and generates trust and horizontal relationships between those who participate.

It is about clarifying the role of each protagonist in the process, carrying out a community diagnosis with creative feedback to the community, choosing the topic and the objectives to be achieved, planning a comprehensive action that allows the community to take ownership of the process (make it their own), and evaluate the results (RED CIMAS, 2009). Participation carries intrinsic value for the people who participate, helping to increase community cohesion, a sense of responsibility for the project, and increased self-sufficiency and confidence. As Zakus (1988) points out, "(...) To the extent that community participation develops a broader base of knowledge, understanding, acceptance and commitment, it can be used by promoters to legitimize and facilitate their objectives, policies and programs" (p .160).

2.4. Needs Assessment Surveys

A needs assessment is a process that allows us to determine needs, that is, the "gap" that exists between the current situation and the one we want to reach. This assessment provides valuable information about the team's processes and identifies where efficiency improvements can be made.

If it is taken into account that is a methodology that facilitates the development of the necessary skills to live in society in an active, plural and democratic way based on the relationship between the curricular contents of each discipline and service to the community (Martinez-Vivot and Folgueiras, 2015; Folgueiras, Luna and Puig, 2013; Housman, Meaney, Wilcox, & Cavazos, 2012; Stokamer, 2011 and Wang, 2011), it is essential to know the needs of the group in which they are going to be integrated the student and will offer him a service.

This is where needs assessment surveys gain strength and students can develop general and specific competencies that will help them in their future professional development. We are moving into a fundamental diagnostic stage to set the objectives to be achieved.





















This type of survey follows the same steps as any other and can be designed with questions focused on aspects that are lacking to know to what extent they are demanded or not by the community in which the intervention is going to take place. Likert-type scales are usually the most used since they offer very valuable and nuanced information about the responses.

2.5. Narrative interview

It is about collecting information about the different ways people behave taking into account a temporal dimension and the context in which they are immersed.

The protagonist is the interviewee who responds broadly to the questions asked without overlooking any type of detail that may help understand their situation in the community: expectations, perceptions, problems, etc.

As Hermanns (1995, p. 183) points out, "The informant is asked to present the story of an area of interest in which the interviewee participated, in an improvised narrative, ... The interviewer's task is to have the informant tell the story of the area of interest in which the interviewee participated. area of interest in question as a coherent account of all relevant knowledge from its beginning to its end".

The interviewee, therefore, can focus on a specific area or a specific moment in their life or narrate it in its entirety. It can last for several sessions and does not have many questions, a global one is asked at the beginning and then counter-questions are asked that provide feedback. It is widely used in the life story methodology.

The subject may not be organized and that is where the researcher, reading it every day, organizes the discourse and checks that all the moments in the life of the interviewee or the area to be analyzed are properly treated. If this is not the case, in the next session, the narration is returned starting with those moments, so that they can be completed by the interviewee.





















The interviewer must listen actively, he should not take notes, but only look at the interviewee and show him that his story is interesting. In the choices that the subject makes about what counts, he is saying what is important to him.

An example of a narrative-generating question could be: "I want you to tell me how your life story came about. You can start from birth, enjoying all those aspects that seem relevant to you. Take all the time you consider for your response because everything you say, no matter how insignificant it may seem to you, is very interesting to me."

2.6. SWOT Matrix

SWOT analysis is a tool that is easy to use and very powerful as a mechanism for analyzing reality and making decisions. Its name comes from: Weaknesses, Threats, Strengths and Opportunities. It is a study methodology where the external and internal situation is analyzed and aims to determine the characteristics of a scenario. It can also be called by the expressions SWOT, SWOT and AODF. Its main objective is to synthesize, in a table, the assessment of the strengths and weaknesses and the external threats and opportunities, consistent with the strategy towards achieving an adequate adjustment between its internal capacity and its external position (Foschiatti and Alberto, 2012).

It involves carrying out a collective analysis of the negative aspects (Weaknesses and Threats) and positive aspects (Strengths and Opportunities) that exist in a given situation or problem, in order to formulate strategies to overcome it. You can use sticky notes or write directly on a whiteboard, there are also software tools that help with its preparation. The "S" is for strengths and will include things you do well, unique resources or any competitive advantage you have. The "W" is for weaknesses and will include areas that need improvement. The "O" is for opportunities and will include areas where you can have advantages over others. The "T" is for threats and will include everything that can negatively affect from the outside or any obstacle that may arise. To do a SWOT analysis, some of the following questions are used (Table 2):





















Table 2:

SWOT Matrix

	STRENGTHS	WEAKNESSES	
Р	What do we do well?	What can we improve? What are they not satisfied with? How are we lagging behind others?	
О	What do they say they like about us?		
S	How do we surpass others?		
1	What is unique about our program?	What knowledge or resources do we lack?	
Т	OPPORTUNITIES	THREATS	Т
1	What emerging trends can we take	What are others doing? What problems could affect us?	
V	advantage of?		
E	What can be valuable?	How could our weaknesses make us	Ε
		vulnerable?	



















3. Project development

During this stage, multiple tools can be used for the development of the project such as: interviews, web pages, WhatsApp, pictograms, cooperative work, intra- and inter-role assemblies, reflective diaries, timelines, mapping workshops or knowledge mobilization, among others. Some of them are analyzed below.

3.1. Reflexive diary

It is a very useful tool for the necessary reflection throughout the process. Each participant must be aware of their activity in the entire project. That way it will be easier for you to project your own personality onto it and be able to follow the process in a more complete and comprehensive way. Furthermore, it will promote awareness and the evolution of the process, in general, and its own progress, in particular.

As Bordas and Cabrera (2001) point out, the reflective diary facilitates awareness of individual knowledge and allows one to analyze what one knows and what one needs to know.

Finally, it should be noted that this reflective diary can reflect organizational issues, anecdotes, description of methodological facts, issues related to the human relationships that are established, manifestation of moods, feelings and emotions, and express the personal and collective learning that goes acquiring.

3.2. Timeline

A timeline is a way to visually sequence events in chronological order. Typically, a timeline is presented as a visual display, with a line representing the passage of time and events placed along the line based on the order in which they occurred.

It is a technique widely used in the educational context, whether in history books or exhibitions, since it allows the sequential ordering of information along a line or arrow that indicates the direction in which historical time passes. Therefore, the events further to the left will be the oldest,



















and those further towards the head of the arrow or towards the right end of the line will be the most recent.

With timelines, the different historical eras or epochs of humanity or of a specific region or population are commonly organized; specific events that took place within a given context (such as a war, a revolution, a specific government, etc.); or the determining moments in the particular history of a person, a technology or knowledge.

Often, whatever the case may be, events of historical or universal importance are also located to provide context or establish comparative relationships with other different processes, whether it is a different country or region, or the universal history of humanity. This is often called a comparative timeline.

To create a timeline, the following steps must be followed:

- 1. Determine its scale. You must decide what time period the graph will cover: whether all of human history, a specific government, a specific year, a specific century, or from a specific century to the present.
- 2. Determine the main milestones. The most important or transcendental events of the information that will be represented on the line must be previously located and organized, since these major milestones will be the main ones on the graph.
- 3. Determine the contextual information. What other milestones or events of general importance -no longer specific to our topic to be addressed-, would be worth highlighting in the timeline to provide context? For example, if we want to represent key moments of the French Revolution, we probably want to highlight historical events that accompanied it in other neighboring countries.

Draw the line and locate the points. The line is drawn from left to right and the previously determined information is distributed over it, in chronological order, moving towards the present (or the end of the period of interest).





















Currently there are different digital software to create this tool such as: Google, Power Point, Word, Canvas, among others.

The best tools for creating timelines are those provided by the following platforms: Miro, GanttPRO, Adobe Spark, Venngage, Lucidchart, Visme, Tiki-Toki, Preceden Timelines, Timeline JS, Bee Docs 3D Timelines, Sutori, iSpring, TimeGlider, Office Timeline, Timetoast, Capzles, Timelinr, MyHistro, HSTRY, History Timelines IA, Time Graphics, Our Timeline or Creately.

All of them require a simple registration and can be used for free, although some have a cost to maintain the timeline or to export it.

3.3. Collaborative cartography and community mapping

It consists of working with community members so that they are able to locate and graphically represent the relative distribution of the parts of a whole. In addition to representing the knowledge they have about a reality, the good thing about this tool is that it also allows us to know the perception of each subject about said reality.

As pointed out by Hernández et al. (2020, p. 5),

"Those who decide to embark on the path of cartography and community mapping have to know that they do not go alone, that these processes create new routes, provide alliances and complicity within the communities. "Those who navigate these spaces, by making what is created something collective, will create maps that are compasses for consensus and agreement in the defense of territories, based on actions of peace and respect for human rights."

Collaborative cartography and community mapping are found within social or participatory cartography. Both are part of methodological work alternatives that allow a community to recognize, re-construct and re-signify its territory to choose and decide on new ways of living and managing it. These processes involve new ways of construction, validation and recognition of local knowledge. Unlike traditional cartography, here it is about giving life to the processes of construction of group and individual identities, through collaboration.



















3.4. Ecomap

It is an instrument that allows you to quickly identify the interrelationships between the person or family and the immediate sociocultural context. It allows carrying out a systematic review of extrapersonal or extra-familial resources, identifying the interrelationships of the person, the family, with the sociocultural environment in which they operate, showing the current situation, allowing the person who does it to be sensitized the search for extra-personal or family social support resources and allows and facilitates the participation in the design of the subject and his or her family.

Its use, therefore, derives from the need to identify resources, detect deficiencies, promote relationships, suspect possible intra- and interpersonal or family problems, locate subjects/families and identify and prioritize problems.

For its preparation, not much material is needed (paper and pencil), an estimated time of 15-20 minutes, it can be done in one or more sessions, when it is considered necessary and starts from the representation of the family nucleus and then limits it and identifies it clearly what belongs to the internal sphere and what is external to it (Suárez Cuba, 2015).

3.6. The mobilization of knowledge

The term *knowledge mobilization* was coined in 2004 by the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada (SSHRC), to refer to efforts to bridge the gap between knowledge production, its practical implications and policy. It aims to bring to the population what is produced in the specialized contexts of study and training, so that they are participants in it and can use it for their own benefit and that of their reference community (Naidorf and Alonso, 2018).



















4. Final evaluation

Evaluating the project requires collecting evidence based on key indicators, in addition to evaluating the different competencies, both specific to the studies carried out by the students, as well as generic or transversal to any type of studies, necessary for the development of the service: learning to be, learning to live together, creativity, decision making, active listening, empathy or social justice, among others.

In this phase, we try to find the best tools to evaluate the results of the experience from two points of view: that of the learning carried out by the students and that of the social impact generated.

Some tools used in the development of the project are: results report, participatory evaluation matrix, final assembly and satisfaction questionnaire, among others.

4.1. Result report

It is a structured document that clearly and concisely collects program performance data and its effects. This is the final product where an informative summary of the program, its results and proposals are prepared, describing its structure and the most outstanding issues of each of the sections, as well as the main conclusions and proposals for improvement. The results report must contain, in addition to the cover with the program identification information and the index of contents, at least a descriptive text that details the information collected, a section that specifies the cause-effect relationships and another that includes the set of conclusions, recommendations for improvement and suggestions (Perea, 2017).

4.2. Participatory evaluation matrix

It is a tool that allows you to view and organize the most relevant information of the program/project. This is a collective development of the double-entry matrix in which assessments are included based on the indicators used and the responsibilities of the actors involved in measuring both the process and the results.





















To do this, all participants in the program are directly involved, particularly community members, which helps build consensus and mutual understanding (López-Sánchez et al., 2018).

This matrix helps identify and organize the information necessary to evaluate. The matrix can be represented in many ways, depending on the information needs that have been prioritized. One of the most used representations is the incorporation of new columns as new assumptions are generated or external factors appear, which allows us to predict what the unforeseen impacts of our program will be (Tapella et al., 2021).





















4. Valid tools in any phase of the process

There are tools that, due to their versatility, can be used in any phase of the process. Some of them are:

5.1. Balanced scorecard

A balanced scorecard (BSC) is a tool that encompasses all the indicators and offers an objective, general and real vision of the project, facilitating decision making, allowing agile action in the event of any incident or weakness, implementing improvement actions, if this is the case. It is valid in any phase of the process because it is developed in the design phase and is completed as the ApS experience develops. During the development phase, it allows agile action in the event of any unforeseen event and in the final evaluation phase, it shows all the results, as well as their evolution throughout the process (Pérez, 2020).

The indicators must be chosen strategically and be aligned with the project objectives so that they add value, their range, cadence must be marked and they must be represented in figures and visually. It is very useful to use a traffic light (green if it is in a normal range, orange if there is any deviation and red with serious deviations) (Llivipuma, Álvarez and Zurita, 2019).

The advantages of its use are multiple, among which we can highlight (Guerrón-Fuentes, 2019):

- Provides a global vision of the progress of the project.
- Facilitates the design and planning of strategies for medium and long-term decision making.
- Provides useful information on the development of the project.
- Reduces risks and possible failures, being able to analyze trends by observing the evolution of the project and anticipate events.



















- Involves all participating people and improves internal communication. The project objectives and results are known in real time.
- It allows the success of the project to be assessed, since through the indicators it can be seen whether the previously set objectives are being developed.

The Balanced Scorecard becomes an efficient management tool that objectively facilitates the work of making timely decisions, controlling processes, applying evaluation indicators and contributing to the management of human talent (Morales and Pinilla, 2007).

5.2. Focus group

It is a special tool, within the group interview category, whose most relevant characteristic is to produce data that would be less accessible without group interaction. Attitudes and points of view about a certain phenomenon are not generated in isolation, but in interaction with other people.

It is a collective dynamic in small groups in which there is debate around a topic of interest or that affects the participants, allowing progress from general to more specific problems and locating conflicts and elements of consensus. Therefore, it can be said that a focus group is a conversation that has previously been planned, to obtain specific and interesting information, in a permissive and non-directive environment (Ruíz-Corbella and García-Gutiérrez, 2019).

It differs from group consensus techniques in that its fundamental purpose is to understand why and how people think or feel the way they do, without attempting to reach agreements. The open and non-directive nature of the conversation offers flexibility to explore new topics not contemplated in the previous planning, as well as allowing participants freedom to respond to the questions raised.

The focus group can be used as an evaluation method in itself, or as a complement to other qualitative and quantitative methods. In one way or another, it is indicated when you want to learn about the experiences and perspectives of the people participating in a project/program, when you



















want to investigate what they think and, especially valuable, to find out why they think the way they do (Lara et al., 2022).

The participants in the discussion groups must be representatives of the target population, and it is expected to obtain information about the full variety of opinions that may exist in said population. It must be taken into account that the size of the group influences the dynamics of the discussion; small groups generate more intense and detailed discussions, providing more information, but if they are very small, more tension and passivity can be generated. For its proper development, the interview script must be prepared, including a list of the topics or issues that will be discussed, this guarantees that the necessary information is collected for the stated objectives (Pacheco and Salazar, 2020).

A focus group meeting usually takes place in four phases: first, the reception and arrangement of people at the agreed place, then a presentation of all the participating people will be made to "break the ice" and give the opportunity to everyone to speak, then the meeting takes place and, finally, the group closes, making a summary of the main themes that have been identified (Ruíz-Corbella and García-Gutiérrez, 2019).

5.3. Field diary

It is a tool for recording information, especially observations and thoughts. It is carried out in an orderly manner and gives clues about the operation of the project/program. It is carried out in an orderly manner and gives clues about the operation of the project/program. It helps to understand the physical and social environment of a given system and, therefore, it should be used to describe who, what, why, where, when and how the events, activities or processes to which you want to respond occur. The "who" refers to the people or system being studied, the "what" to the information collected; The "why", "where", "when" and "how" provide important details about the observation being made (Ruíz-Corbella and García-Gutiérrez, 2019).

In addition to the objective data collected and the report of the experience, this tool allows us to collect what has been experienced, the values, attitudes and beliefs. Therefore, it is considered a





















reflection tool that can shed light on the development of the learning process in ApS, serving as an analysis tool, evaluating its evolution and development.

The field diary is basically made up of two sections: the identification cover, which includes the name of the program, institution, name of the professionals and the year; and the entries of the different activities that will be carried out in the program, as planned (Campos, Silva and Albuquerque, 2021).

5.4. Observation scales

They are a fundamental element of the information collection process. To obtain the greatest number of data, it is necessary to observe an objective in a clear, defined and precise way (Martínez, 2022).

It involves making a systematic record of a series of traits or characteristics of the people observed, which allows the observer to assign a value to a certain behavioral category (observation unit), indicating the degree of intensity or frequency with which it is manifested, through a qualitative and/or quantitative qualification (Ruíz-Corbella and García-Gutiérrez, 2019).

5.5. Rubrics

They are precise guides that assess the learning and products carried out, indicating the achievement of the objectives predetermined in advance. They are specified in tables that break down the levels of student performance in a specific aspect, with specific criteria on their performance (Ruíz-Corbella and García-Gutiérrez, 2019).

Rubrics have been recognized as an ideal assessment instrument for a variety of tasks, including everyday tasks; and its use in the evaluation of competencies allows the complex tasks that make up a competency to be broken down into more observable micro tasks (Pérez and Flores, 2017).





















5. Example of SL where some of the tools presented are used

EXAMPLE. Extracted from Sandoval-Díaz, J., Cuadra-Martínez, D., Orellana-Fonseca, C., & Sandoval-Obando, E. (2021). Community diagnosis in the face of climate disasters: A service-learning experience. Otherness, 16(1), 23-37. https://doi.org/10.17163/alt.v16n1.2021.02

Subject: Community management in the face of a climate disaster in northern Chile in the psychology degree at the University of Atacama (UDA).

Context: An extreme hydrometeorological event, on March 25, 2015, caused torrential rains in 17 locations in Atacama, Chile. In Copiapó, the regional capital, the rains washed away a large amount of water, burying the city under a 31 cm layer of sediment. There were 22 deaths, 28,000 victims, 2,000 homes destroyed and 5,000 with major damage, resulting in an economic impact of more than 46 million USD (Izquierdo et al., 2018).

In terms of psychosocial impact, the groups that presented the greatest impact were older adults, people with disabilities/chronic illness, women, with low economic income and without higher education, adding those who are in the condition of partial-total damage in their housing and did not receive support for the reconstruction of their houses (Sandoval-Díaz & Cuadra-Martínez, 2020).

In physical-material terms, the average height of impact was 45 cm, identifying four sectors of the city in which the flood exceeded one meter of water, one of them being the town of Paipote, ground zero of the disaster. According to Izquierdo et al. (2018), floods constitute a risk on a global scale, especially in areas with large slopes and arid climate, as is the case of Paipote (See figure 1). This residential town of 20,000 inhabitants, founded in 1913, is located between the communes of Tierra Amarilla and Copiapó, 8 kilometers from the latter.





















Figure 1.Aereal diagramo f the case study



Source: Astudillo-Pizarro and Sandoval-Díaz (2019, p. 315), in Sandoval-Díaz et al., J. (2021).

We were located at the end of 2016 in the town of Paipote, at ground zero of the disaster, 174 families lived there with varying degrees of damage to their homes. Local leaders are trying to organize to accelerate the slow reconstruction of their neighborhoods devastated by the disaster, as well as request support from both government and civil society actors, as was the case of the Psychology Department of the University of Atacama.

A group of teachers designed a training program in the diagnosis of psychosocial needs at the community level. The implementation of said program was carried out with the purpose of responding to two objectives: carrying out a diagnosis in conjunction with the neighborhood council, and strengthening professional training tools for eighth semester students.

The implementation of the SL was carried out from mid-July to the end of December 2016. The integration workshop III had 34 students enrolled, from the eighth semester of psychology. At the





















service level, prior to the beginning of the subject, two coordination meetings were held with neighborhood leaders, with the objective of: agreeing on the products, periodicity and procedures of the diagnosis, and knowing the local history and experience linked to the climate disaster, enabling a first territorial approach to the context and the problem to be addressed. After this coordination, together with the key informant (neighborhood leader), contact was made with some affected families, with the aim of disseminating the potential work to be carried out.

At the learning level, initially, weekly theoretical-practical sessions were established with a duration of approximately one and a half hours, which were extended to three hours if an activity was carried out in the field. For the development of the subject, students grouped themselves by personal affinities (with a maximum of four people), with the aim of prioritizing teamwork based on prior knowledge. In total, 13 sessions were implemented (plus two recreational sessions with the community), which were carried out both in the context itself and in the university classrooms.





















Schedule of activities carried out

Table 3.Activity sessions implemented in the integration workshop III

Date	Activity	Type of activity	Short description	
		,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	310.1 200.1 p. 0.1	
15/07	Prior coordination meetings	Field practice	Meetings of the academic body with neighborhood leaders to define objectives	
24/07	with the community		and procedures	
06/08	Participatory action research design	Theoretical	Presentation in the classroom of design, synthesizing its theoretical, practical and procedural components.	
30/08	First induction to the field	Field practice	At the group level, a walking tour of the town was carried out, using a field diary to record first impressions.	
13/09	Guided observation: drifth	Field practice	Application of a participant observation technique guided by the neighborhood directors themselves.	
30/09	First day local disaster risk management	Conversational seminar	Carried out with different local experts on the topic of disaster risk management, in which both neighborhood leaders and students participated.	
04/10	Diagnosis of observed needs: static and dinamic	Theoretical	Classroom presentation of the diagnosis of psychosocial needs, synthesizing its theoretical-practical components.	
11/10	Desing of a quantitative scale	Theoretical- applied	In the classroom, the students designed closed questions with options i) dichotomous, ii) polytomic and iii) Likert scale; This is in accordance with the qualitative impressions collected in the field.	
25/10	Application of quantitative scales	Field practice	Field application of psychometric scales and closed questions (agreed upon and selected in the previous class), this via probabilistic sampling of homes per block.	
08/11	Participatory strategies: ecomap and social cartography	Theoretical	Introductory presentation of participatory techniques synthesizing their advantages and theoretical-practical limitations.	
29/11	Needs diagnosis systematization matrix	Theoretical- applied	Theoretical presentation of the matrix of community capacities and vulnerabilities (MCV).	
06/12	Presentation of group progress	Theoretical- expository	Group presentation of the MCV matrix progress, which was given feedback by teachers and pairs of students.	
13/12	Delivery of final synthesis report	Theoretical	With the feedback provided, the working groups had to prepare a final report.	
10/08	Recreational activities: i)	Recreational	Carrying out and supporting two recreational activities with the academic	
21/12	celebration of children's day an ii) support for community Christmas celebrations	activities	body, students and community.	

Source: Extracted from Sandoval-Díaz et al., J. (2021, p.30).

Data production tools

With the objectives of: strengthening applied learning and increasing the validity of the needs diagnosis process, the triangulation strategy of quantitative and qualitative methods was used. These techniques—first—were taught in class sessions (see table 3), and were later applied in field work.

The teaching of these techniques was carried out flexibly, according to the times and characteristics of the respective sessions, considering, among others, the following aspects: a) treated and





















emerging themes, b) disposition of the students, c) characteristics of the classroom and the resources to be used, to mention just a few aspects. Table 4 describes the techniques used, with their respective objective, justification and stage of use.

Table 4.

Description of the techniques taught and applied by students for diagnosis

Context of use	Technique	Objective	Justification
Practical terrain	Narrative interview	Know the local history, such as the background and characteristics of the disaster.	First face-to-face approach with the community from a situated perspective.
Practical classroom application	The drift (Pellicer et al., 2013)	Explore the meanings and spatial meanings of the disaster experience.	Guided observation technique that territorialized the emerging narratives of the interview, this through a tour of the risk exposure area.
Practical classroom application	Participatory social cartography (Vélez et al., 2012)	Produce a map, at a neighborhood scale, of potential threats, vulnerabilities and security spaces in the face of climate risks.	Dialogical technique that graphs the use and appropriation of space, in which exposed-susceptible and risk-safe places are drawn.
Practical terrain	Ecomap (Fernández et al., 2012)	Produce a relational map of social actors identifying the degree of perceived closeness or distance.	Ecological technique that graphs the relationships of closeness, distance and absence between the community and public/private institutions throughout the disaster cycle.
Practical terrain	Sampling and application of impact scales (Sandoval-Díaz & Cuadrado-Martínez, 2020).	Apply sampling and quantitative data collection skills.	The students applied a booklet of psychosocial scales after training. They subsequently analyzed the results in a general way via descriptive statistics.
Classroom systematization	Matrix of capabilities and vulnerabilities	Systematize the information obtained, using an MVC matrix.	At the group level, the students had to systematize the information obtained to develop a community diagnosis for the areas a) physical-material, b) organizational and c) motivational.

Source: Extracted from Sandoval-Díaz et al., J. (2021, p.31).

As has been seen, there are many and varied tools that can be used when collecting information in SL experiences, the important thing is to know how to choose the most appropriate one for the purpose of the researcher and the group and context in which it is carried out is going to act.





















6. Bibliographic references

- Álvarez, A., McCall, M.K. & León, J.M. (2022). Mapeo participativo y cartografía social de conocimientos culturales, históricos y arqueológicos Recurso práctico para profesores y estudiantes universitarios. Centro de Investigaciones en Geografía Ambiental Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México.

 https://www.ciga.unam.mx/publicaciones/images/view/view.php?doc=97860730591
 21.pdf
- Anderson, M., & Woodrow, P. (1989). Rising from the ashes: development strategies in times of disas- ter. Westview Press.
- Aramburuzabala, P. (2013). Aprendizaje-Servicio: una herramienta para educar desde y para la justicia social. *Revista Internacional de Educacion para la justicia social, 2*(2), 5-11. https://doi.org/10.15366/riejs2013.2.2
- Astudillo-Pizarro, F., & Sandoval-Díaz, J. (2019). Justicia espacial, desastres socionaturales y políticas del espacio. Dinámicas sociopolíticas frente a los aluviones y proceso de recuperación en Copiapó, Chile [Spatial Justice, Socio-Natural Disasters, and Spatial Policies: Sociopolitical Dynamics in view of the Floods and Recovery Processes in Copiapó, Chile]. Cuadernos de Geografía: Revista Colombiana de Geografía, 28(2), 303-321.
- Belando-Montoro, L.M. & Carrasco, M.A. (2018). ¿Movilización selectiva del conocimiento a través de los blogs? el caso de las experiencias de aprendizaje-servicio en las universidades españolas. Revista Lusófona de Educação, 39, 169-186. https://doi.org/10.24140/issn.1645-7250.rle39.12
- Bordas, M.I. y Cabrera, F. (2001). Estrategias de evaluación de los aprendizajes centradas en el proceso. *Revista española de pedagogía, 59(218),* 25-48. https://revistadepedagogia.org/wp-content/uploads/2007/06/218-02.pdf





















- Campos, J. L., Silva, T. C., & Albuquerque, U. P. (2021). Observação participante e diário de campo: quando utilizar e como analisar. *Métodos de pesquisa qualitativa para etnobiologia. Recife:*Nupeea, 95-112.
- Council on Minim & Metal (ICMM) (2005). Community development toolkit. Centro de información sobre empresas y derechos humanos.
- Council on Minim & Metal (ICMM) (2023). Kit de herramientas de Desarrollo comunitario. https://guidance.miningwithprinciples.com/community-development-toolkit/?lang=es
- Cruz-López, L., Digón-Regueiro, M.P. y López-García, R.M. (2022). Social cartography as a participatory process for mapping experiences of Education for Sustainable Development and Global Citizenship: an account of the design. International Journal of Research & Method in Eucation 45(2), 212-224. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2021.1966621
- Eyler, J. and Giles, D. (1999). Where's the Learning in Service-Learning? Jossey-Bass Higher and Adult Education Series. Jossey-Bass, Inc.
- Fernández, J., Escalante, E., & Richard, F. (2011).Revisitando algunas herramientas de evaluación sistémica [Revisiting some tools of sys- temic evaluation]. Psicoperspectivas, 10(1), 190-208.

 HYps://bit.ly/3gNkmcV
- Flick, U. (2007). *Introducción a la investigación cualitativa*. Morata.
- Foschiatti, A. M., & Alberto, J. A. (2012). El uso de matrices DAFO como herramientas de gestión y análisis geográfico. *Geográfica digital*, *9*(18), 1-11. http://dx.doi.org/10.30972/geo.9182235
- Folgueiras, P., Luna, E. y Puig-Latorre, G. (2013). Aprendizaje y servicio: estudio del grado de satisfacción de estudiantes universitarios. *Revista de Educación*, *362*, 159-185. https://doi.org/10.4438/1988-592X-RE-2011-362-157
- Guerrón-Fuentes, J. (2019). Proyecto de dirección, empleando un cuadro de mando integral como sistema de gestión (Master's thesis).





















- Hernández, C.C, Flores, J.A., Rodríguez, A., Rojas, H., Vázquez, M. (2020). Mapeo comunitario y cartografía colaborativa para la defensa del territorio y los bienes comunes. GUÍA PARA PROMOTORES, ACTIVISTAS Y FACILITADORES COMUNITARIOS. ControlaTuGobierno, A.C. y Sembrando Cultura Ambiental, A.C. https://controlatugobierno.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Gu%C3%ADa-Mapeo y Cartograf%C3%ADa CTG SECUAM.pdf
- Housman, J., Meaney, K. S., Wilcox, M., & Cavazos, A. (2012). The impact of service-learning on health education students' cultural competence. *American Journal of Health Education*, 43(5), 269- 278. https://doi.org/10.1080/19325037.2012.10599245
- Lara, M. A. B., Mansilla, M. P., de Agüero Servín, M., Mendiola, M. S., y Cazales, V. J. R. (2022). Los grupos focales como estrategia de investigación en educación: algunas lecciones desde su diseño, puesta en marcha, transcripción y moderación. Revista CPU-e, (34), 163-197. https://doi.org/ 10.25009/cpue.v0i34.2793
- Llivipuma, M. R. P., Álvarez, J. C. E. y Zurita, C. I. N. (2019). Cuadro de mando integral, enfoque estratégico al proceso administrativo y educativo. *Visionario Digital, 3*(22), 120-144. https://doi.org/10.33262/visionariodigital.v3i2.2.627
- López-Sánchez, M. P., Alberich, T., Aviñó, D., García, F. F., Ruiz-Azarola, A. y Villasante, T. (2018).

 Herramientas y métodos participativos para la acción comunitaria. Informe SESPAS 2018.

 Gaceta Sanitaria, 32, 32-40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaceta.2018.06.008
- Martínez-Vivot y Folgueiras (2015). Evaluación participativa, Aprendizaje Servicio y Universidad.

 *Profesorado. Revista de currículum y formación del profesorado, 19(1), 128-143.

 *https://revistaseug.ugr.es/index.php/profesorado/article/view/18611
- Martínez, D. V. S. (2022). Técnicas e instrumentos de recolección de datos en investigación. *TEPEXI Boletín Científico de la Escuela Superior Tepeji del Río*, 9(17), 3839. https://doi.org/10.29057/estr.v9i17.7928





















- Montoya, E.C., Herrera, M.C. y Ochoa'O'Leary (2020). Foto-voz como Técnica de Investigación en Jóvenes Migrantes de Retorno. *EMPIRIA. Revista de Metodología de Ciencias Sociales*, 45, 15-49. https://doi.org/10.5944/empiria.45.2020.26303
- Morales-Souquett, C., y Pinilla, B. (2007). Balanced scorecard como herramienta de diagnóstico. *Visión Gerencial*, 1, 82-92. https://www.redalyc.org/articulo.oa?id=465545875012
- Naidorf, J. y Alonso, M. (2018). La Movilización del Conocimiento en Tres Tiempos. *Revista Lusófona de Educação*, 39, 81-95. https://www.redalyc.org/journal/349/34955242008/html/
- Pacheco, F. D. R., & Salazar, V. G. P. (2020). Grupos focales: marco de referencia para su implementación. *INNOVA Research Journal*, *5*(3), 182-195. DOI: https://doi.org/10.33890/innova.v5.n3.2020.1401
- Perea Arias, Ó. (2017). Guía de evaluación de programas y proyectos sociales. http://biblioteca.udgvirtual.udg.mx/jspui/handle/123456789/989
- Pérez, M. S., y Flores, M. (2017). Los criterios de evaluación como un apoyo para los estudiantes en el logro de las competencias en cursos en línea. *Campus virtuales, 6*(2), 9-20. http://www.uajournals.com/campusvirtuales/journal/11/1.pdf
- Pérez, L. M. M. (2020). Cuadro de mando integral para la gestión del impacto social en organizaciones de empleo inclusivo. *CIRIEC-España, revista de economía pública, social y cooperativa*, 98, 153-188. https://doi.org/10.7203/CIRIEC-E.98.13368
- Pellicer, I., Vivas-Elías, P., & Rojas, J. (2013). La observación participante y la deriva: dos técnicas móviles para el análisis de la ciudad contemporánea. El caso de Barcelona. *EURE, 39(116)*, 119-139. HYPE://doi.org/10.4067/S0250-71612013000100005
- Puig, J.M, Casares, M., García, X y Rubio, L. (2011). Aprendizaje-servicio y Educación para la Ciudadanía. *Revista de Educación*, nº extraordinario, 45-67. https://repositorio.minedu.gob.pe/bitstream/handle/20.500.12799/1000/2011 Puig Apre





















ndizajeservicio%20y%20Educaci%c3%b3n%20para%20la%20Ciudadan%c3%ada.pdf?seque nce=1&isAllowed=y

- Rania, N., Coppola, I, Brucci, M. & Pinna, L. (2022). Enhancing empowerment in young adults during the COVID-19 era in Italy through the Photovoice technique. *Current Psychology*, https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-022-03635-5
- Red CIMAS (2009). Metodologías participativas. Manual. Observatorio Internacional de Ciudadanía y Medio Ambiente Sostenible (CIMAS). http://www.redcimas.org/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2012/09/manual 2010.pdf
- Ruíz-Corbella, M. y García-Gutiérrez, J. (2019). Aprendizaje-Servicio. Los retos de la evaluación.

 Narcea Ed.
- Sandoval-Díaz, J., & Cuadra-Martínez, D. (2020). Vulnerabilidad social, severidad subjetiva y crecimiento postraumático en grupos afec- tados por un desastre climatológico [Social vulnerability, subjective severity and post- traumatic growth in groups affected by a climate disaster]. Revista de Psicología, 29(1), 1-15. HYPE://dx.doi.org/10.5354/0719-0581.2020.58002
- Sanz Vega, CM, Noriega Pérez A, Noguerol de Cid C y Serra Lorenzo R. (2018). Manejo de la técnica de Fotovoz como herramienta comunitaria. *Revista de Enfermería Comunitaria*; *6*(3); 42-56.
- Stokamer, S. T. (2011). Pedagogical catalysts of civic competence: The development of a critical epistemological model for communitybased. *Journal of Higher Education Outreach and Engagement*, 17(1), 113-121.
- Suárez, B. (2023). Uso de metodologías activas en las aulas: experiencia educativa de aprendizajeservicio y fotovoz. *REDU Revista de Docencia Universitaria*, *21*(1), 53-69.
- Tapella, E., Rodríguez, P. D., Sanz, J. C., Chávez, J. y Espinosa, J. (2021). Siembra y cosecha: Manual de evaluación participativa. DEval.





















- Vélez, I., Rátiva, S., & Varela, D. (2012). Cartografía social como metodología participativa y colaborativa de investigación en el territorio afrodescendiente de la cuenca alta del río Cauca [Social Cartography as a Participative and Collaborative Research Methodology in the Upper Basin of the Cauca River]. Cuadernos de Geografía, 21(2), 59-73. HYPERL/doi.org/10.15446/rcdg.v21n2.25774
- Wang, X. (2011). Exploring the effects of a cross-cultural service-learning program on intercultural competence of participants. *New Horizons in Education*, *59*(3), 41-50.
- Zakus, D. (1988). La participación comunitaria en los programas de atención primaria a la salud en el tercer mundo. *Salud pública de México, 30*(2), 151-174. file:///C:/Users/usuario/Downloads/189-Texto%20del%20art%C3%ADculo-244-1-10-20141110.pdf















